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United States District Courtessmrsbistac ooy,

EASTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

- DEC 19 2006

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA JAMES R. LARSEN, CLERK
DEPUTY
SPOKANE. WASHINGTON
V. CRIMINAL COMPLAINT
T - 20&
ELLREESE N. DANIELS CASENUMBER: /77.J- 06~ 50

(Name & Address of Defendant)

1, the undersigned complainant being duly sworn state the following is true and correct to the best of my
knowledge and belief.

COUNT ONE
On or about July 10, 2001, in the Okanogan-Wenatchee National Forest, in the Eastern
District of Washington, Defendant ELLREESE N. DANIELS did commit a lawful act or a series

of lawful acts, specifically, supervising firefighters who were working to suppress a wildfire in the
Chewuch River Canyon, which was referred to as the Thirtymile Fire, in a manner that was grossly
negligent, meaning in a manner that was in wanton and reckless disregard for human life, with the
Defendant knowing of circumstances that reasonably would cause the Defendant to foresee that
the Defendant’s course of conduct in the supervision of the ﬁfeﬁghters might place the lives of
firefighters in danger, which was the proximate cause of the death of Tom Craven, a firefighter
who was employed by the Forest Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture, while Tom Craven was
engaged in the performance of his official duties; all in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Sections 1112 and 1114.

) ‘\1

Continued on the attached sheet incorporated herein by this reference. ( X * Yes [ No

I further state that I am a Special Agent and that this complfmt isb ;1-/0'11 thylowing facts:

&ignature of Complainant J. R. Parker
Special Agent, OIG, U.S.D.A.

Swom to before me, and subscribed in my presence

December 19, 2006 at Spokane, Washington

Date : City ay' £ .
Cynthia Imbrogno , ,fL__’,___,,ﬂ

United States Magistrate Judge

Name and Tiile of Judicial Officer - Signature of Judicial Officer P61215RC. THB.wpd
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COUNT TWO

On or about July 10, 2001, in the Okanogan-Wenatchee National Forest, in
the Eastern District of Washington, Defendant ELLREESE N. DANIELS did
commit a lawful act or a series of lawful acts, specifically, supervising firefighters
who were working to suppress a wildfire in the Chewuch River Canyon, which
was referred to as the Thirtymile Fire, in a.rn'anner that was grossly negligent,
meaning in a manner that was in wanton and reckless disregard for human life,
with the Defendant knowing of circumstances that reasonably would cause thé
Defendant to foresee that the Defendant’s course of conduct in the supervision of
the ﬁreﬁghters might place the lives of firefighters in danger, which was the
proximate cause of the death of Karen Fitzpatrick, a firefighter who was

employed by the Forest Service, US Department of Agriculture, while Karen
Fitzpatrick was engaged in the performance of her official duties; all in violation
of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1112 and 1114.
COUNT THREE

On or about July 10, 2001, in the Okanogan-Wenatchee National Forest, in
the Eastern District of Washington, Defeﬁdant ELLREESE N. DANIELS did
commit a lawful act or a series of lawful acts, specifically, supervising firefighters
who were working to suppress a wildfire in the Chewuch River Canyon, which

was referred to as the Thirtymile Fire, in a manner that was grossly negligent,
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meaning in a manner that was in wanton and reckless disregard for human life,
with the Defendant knowing of circumstances that reasonably would cause the
Defendant to foresee that the Defendant’s course of conduct in the supervision of
the firefighters might place the lives of firefighters in danger, which was the
proximate cause of the death of Jessica Johnson, a firefighter who was employed
by the Forest Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture, -while Jessica Johnson was
engaged in the performance of her official duties; all in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Sections 1112 and 1114.
COUNT FOUR

On or about July 10, 2001, in the Okanogan-Wenatchee National Forest, in
the Eastern District of Washington, Defendant ELLREESE N. DANIELS did
commit a lawful act or a series of lawful acts, specifically, supervising firefighters
who were working to suppress a wildfire in the Chewuch River Canyon, which
was referred to as the Thirtymile Fire, in a manner that was grossly negligent,
meaning in a manner that was in wanton and reckless disregard for human life,
with the Defendant knowing of circumstances that reasonably would cause the
Defendant to foresee that the Defendant’s course of conduct in the supervision of
the firefighters might place the lives of firefighters in danger, which was the
proximate cause of the death of Devin Weaver, a ﬁfeﬁghter who was employed

by the Forest Service, U.S, Department of Agriculture, while Devin Weaver was

P61215RC. THB.wpd




Criminal Complaint (Continued)
Page 4

December 19, 2006

Ellreese N. Daniels

engaged in the performance of his official duties; all in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Sections 1112 and 1114.

COUNT FIVE

On or about July 12, 2001, in the Eastern District of Washington, in a
matter within the jurisdiction of the Forest Service, U.S. Department Qf
Agriculture, Defendant ELLREESE N, DANIELS did knowingly and
intentionally make a false and fictitious material statement and representation

- concerning his conduct while supervising firefighters on the Thirtymile Fire;
specifically, during an interview with a member of the Forest Service Safety and
Accident Investigation Team and a representati\_/;e of the Occupational Safety and
Health Administration, while describing the events following the entrapment of a
portion of the Northwest Regular # 6 firefighting crew and through the
deployment of fire shelters by those crew members, the Defendant stated that he
told a female firefighter to get two civilians into her fire shelter and to keep them
in her shelter; when in truth and in fact the Defendant knew during the interview
that he had not given any instruction to the female firefighter to get the two
civilians into her fire shelter; all in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

- Section 1001.

COUNT SIX

On or about July 12, 2001, in the Eastern District of Washington, in a
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matter within the jurisdiction gf the Forest Service, U.S. Department of
Agriculture, and the Occupational Safety and Health Admihistration, U.S.
Department of Labor, Defendant ELLREESE N. DANIELS did knowingly and
intentionally make a false and fictitious material statement and representation
concerning his éonduct while supervising firefighters on the Thirtymile Fire;
specifically, during an interview with a member of the Forest Service Safety and
Accident Investigation Team, in response to a question about what
communication took placé between the Defendant and a small group of
firefighters who were on a sCree slope above a road‘ at the site where the
entrapped members of the Northwest Regular # 6 firefighting crew eventually
deployed their fire shelters, the Defendant stated that he told the group at least
three times to come down out of the rocks because that 1s not the place to be;
when in truth and in fact the Defendant knew during the interview that he had not
told the small group of firefighters to come down out of the rocks; all in violation
of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001.
COUNT SEVEN

On or about July 12, 2001, in the Eastern District of Washington, in é
matter within the jurisdiction of the Forest Service, U.S. Department of
Agriculture, and the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, U.S.

Department of Labor, Defendant ELLREESE N. DANIELS did knowingly and
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intentionally make a false and fictitious material statement and representaﬁon
concerning his conduct while supervising firefighters on the Thirtymile Fire;
specifically, during an interview with a member of the Forest Service Safety and‘ '
Accident Investigation Team, while discussing a small group of ﬁreﬁghfers who
were on a scree slope above a road at the site where the entrapped merﬁbers uof the
Northwest Regular # 6 firefighting crew eventually deployed their fire shelters,
and in response to a que.stion about whether the Defendant ﬁad any idea why the

- small g‘roup( of firefighters did not do as he asked to come down out of the rocks,
the Defendant stated that he did not have any idea and that he wished that he
could have made them listen; when in truth and in fact the Defendant knew
during the interview that he had not told the small group of firefighters to come
down out of the rocks; all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
1001,

COUNT EIGHT

On or about August 9, 2001, in the Eastern District of Washington, in a
matter within the jurisdiction of the Occupational Safety and Health
Adnﬁnisﬁation, U.S. Department of Labor, Defendant ELLREESE N. DANIELS
did knowingly and intentionally make a false and fictitious material statement and
. representation concerning the conduct of Forest Service employees who were

operating fire engines on the Thirtymile Fire, during an interview with a
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representative of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration; specifically, "
n respoﬁse to a question as té whether the Defendant knew that two fire engines
had arrived at the fire, the Defendant stated that neither of the two fire engines,
which were designated as Engine 701 and Engine 704, stopped to talk to the
Defendant or to the Crew Boss Trainee for the Northwest Regular # 6 ﬁreﬁghtiﬁg
crew when they arrived at the Thirtymile Fire on the afternoon of July 10, 2001;
that the engines were “doing their own thing;” and that neither of the engines ever
contacted the Defendant or thé Crew Boss Trainee; when in truth and in fact the
Defendant knew during the interview that the foreman of the larger of the t\ﬁro fire
engines, Engine 701, had stopped, checked in with the Defendant, and confirmed
withl the Defendant that the engines would proceed up the Chewuch River
Canyon to patrol for spot fires; all in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 1001.
COUNT NINE

Between on or about Marbh 14, 2002, and on or about March 28, 2002, in
the Eastern District of Washington, in a matter within the jurisdiction of the
Forest Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Defendant ELLREESE N,
DANIELS did knowingly and intentionally make a false and fictitious material
statement and representation on or abou_t. March 14, 2002, during an interview

with members of the Forest Service Administrative Review Team that was
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examining the conduct of Forest Service employees who worked on the
Thirtymile Fire, and did knowingly and intentionally document that false and
fictitious material statement and representation in a declaration that the Defendant
signed on or about March 28, 2002; specifically, the Defendant stated that neither
of the two fire engines, which were designated as Engine 701 and Engine 704,
checked in with the Defendant when they arrived at the Thirtymile Fire on the
afternoon of July 10, 2001; when in truth and in fact the Defendant knew during
the interview that the foreman of the larger of the two fire engines, Engine 70 1', |
had stopped, checked in with the Defendant, and confirmed with the Defendant
that the engines would proceed up the Chewuch River Canyon to patrol for spot
fires; all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001.

COUNT TEN

Bétween on or about March 14, 2002, and on or about March 28, 2002, in
the Eastern District of Washington, in a matter withiﬁ the jurisdiction of the
Forest Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Defendant ELLREESE N.
DANIELS did knowingly and intentionally make a false and fictitious material
statement and representation on or about March 14, 2002, during an interview
with members of the Forest Service Administrative Review Team that was
examining the conduct of Forest Service employees who worked on the

Thirtymile Fire, and did knowingly and intentionally document that false and
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fictitious material statement and representation in a declaration that the Defendant
signed on or about March 28, 2002; specifically, while describing the events from
the time that a portion of the Northwest Regular # 6 firefighting crew re-engaged
the wildfire through the deployment of fire shelters by the entrapped crew
" members, the Defendant stated that he told Tom Craven and the other firefighters
who were with Tom Craven in a loud voice to come down from the scree slope to
the road, but that the firefighters did not come down from the scree slope; when
in truth and in fact the Defendant knew during the interview that he had not told
the small group of firefighters to come down from the scree slope to the road; all
in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001.
COUNT ELEVEN

Between on or abqut March 14, 2002, and on or about March. 28, 2002, in
the Eastern Distriét of Washington, in a matter within the jurisdiction of the
Forest Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Defendant ELLREESE N.
DANIELS did knowingly and intentionally make a false and fictitious material
statement and representation on or about March 14, 2002, during an interview
with members of the Forest Service Administrative Review Team that was
examining the conduct of Forest Service employees who worked on the
Thirtymile Fire, and did knowingly and intentionally document that false and

fictitious material statement and representation in a declaration that the Defendant
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signed on or about March 28, 2002; specifically, while describing the events from
the time that a portion of the Northwést Regular # 6 ﬁreﬁghting crew re-engaged
the wildfire through the deployment of fire shelters by the entrapped crew
members, the Defendant stated that he told a female firefighter to get a female
civilian and‘ a male civilian into her fire shelter and to keep them in her shelter;
whe;n in truth and in fact the De;fendant knew during the interview that he had not
given any instruction to the female firefighter to get the two civilians into her fire

shelter; all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001.
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re: Complaint for Ellreese N. Daniels
AFFIDAVIT
STATE OF WASHINGTON )

'S8
County of Spokane )

John R. Parker, being first duly sworn on oath, deposes and states:

I'am a Special Agent (SA) with the United States Department of Agriculture
(USDA)-Office of Inspector General (OIG), assigned to the Seattle, Washington,
sub-office. 1 haye been emplloyed with USDA-OIG as a Special Agent since

| March of 1990. Prior to joining USDA-OIG, I was a Special Agent with the
United States Department of Energy, Richland, Washington, from December 1989
until March 1990. Prior to that, I was a United States Postal Inspector from
September 1984 until December 1989. 1 was assigned to the Seattle Postal
Inspection Service for five years and the New York Po.stal Inspection Service for
three months. I completed Postal Inspector Academy training in Potomac,
Maryland, a thirteen (13)-week basic law enfqrcement academy for federal law
enforcement officers. As a Special Agent with USDA-OIG, I am aﬁthorized to

conduct investigations, make arrests, execute warrants, carry firearms, and

Affidavit of John R. Parker
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perform enforcement and other duties as imposed by the Secretary of Agriculture
or authorized by the Inspector General Act of 1978 (Public Law 95-452), the
Agriculture and Food Act of 1981 (Public Law 97-98), or other law or department
regulation.

In addition to investigating all criminal acts of violations of USDA program
requirements and related criminal violations, I am also authorized to conduct
wildland fire fatality investigations as authorized by Public Law 107-203. This
law enacted in July of 2002, and subsequently codified in 7 U.S.C. § 2270b, |
Department of Agriculture Inspector General Investigation of Forest Service
Firefighter Deaths, states that:

In the case of each fatality of an officer or employee of the Forest Service

that occurs due to wildfire entrapment or burnover, the Inspector General of

the Department of Agriculture shall conduct an investigation of the fatality .

After this law was enacted, USDA-OIG formed a Wildland Fire
Investigation Team (WFIT) compriSed of various senior special agents throughout
the United States. Since its inception, I have completed the U.S. Forest Service’s
Wildland Fire Cause and Origin Training at the Federal Law Enforcement Center

(FLETC), Glynco, Georgia; the Forest Service/Bureau of Land Management
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Serious Accident Investigation Training, Phoenix, Arizona; the Forest Service
Basic Wildland Firefighter Academy Training, Boise, Idaho; Forest Service
Wildland Firefighter Crew Boss Training, Boise, Idaho; and Forest Service
Annual Fire Refresher Training. Additionally, I have completed numerous
Incident Command System (ICS) online training modules.

I am currently involved in the investi.gation of the deaths of four wildland
firefighters who were killed as a result of a burnover on the Thirtymile Fire on
July 10, 2001. The facts that I have set forth in this affidavit are based upon
information that I have acquired from my personal participation in thé
investigation. I obtained access to voluminous materials from the Forest Service,
U.S. Department of Agriculture, and from the Occupational Safety and Health
Administration, U.S. Department of Labor. In the course of the investigation,
which I have pursued in concert with the U.S. Attorney’s Office in the Eastern
Dastrict of Washington, I have conducted numerous interviews.

This affidavit is being produced for the limited purpose of establishing
probable cause to support the issuance of a Criminal Complaint against Ellreese N.
Daniels. Therefore, I have not included in this affidavit each and every fact

known to me regarding this investigation.
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Overview of the Thi ile Fire

- In early July of 2001, a year of severe drought, numerous wildfires were
burning in Washington. On the afternoon of July 10, 2001, four Forest Service
firefighters died while participating in. an operation to suppress a wildfire in the
Chewuch River diainage. within the Okanogan-Wenatchee National Forest. The
drainage was a box canyon, which contained a single road in to a campground
near the north end of the canyon. There were no houses, businesses, or Forest
Service buildings in the drainage.

The wildfire, which was designated the Thirtymile Fire, had started the
previous day as a result of an abandoned bamp fire. The fire burned generally
northeast, up the canydn, from the point of origin. During the early morning hours
of July 10th, the fire was only about five acres and was burning slowly in a
riparian area adjacent to the river. According to the Okanogan Naiional Forest
Dispatch Log, the Entiat Interagency Hotshot crew arrived af the fire at
approximately 1:30 a.m. The Hotshot crew worked to build a line around the fire. _
The vegetation was dense, making the work to cut a control line arduous;. |

The 21-member Northwest Regular # 6 Type 2 crew (NWR # 6) relieved the

Hotshots about 9:30 a.m. NWR # 6 consisted of a Crew Boss Trainer, who was
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Ellreese N.. Daniels; a Crew Boss Trainee, who was Pete Kampen; and three
squads of firefighters. Each squad had a squad boss. Approximately half of the
- crew members were rookies.

Upon arriving at the fire, Mr. Daniels, the Crew Boss Trainer, and Mr.
Kampen, the Crew Boss Trainee, obtained a briefing and a walk-through with the
Hotshot Superintendent, who was Marshall Brown, and the Assistant
Superintendent, who was Kyle Cannon. Mr. Kampen then briefed the crew. NWR
# 6 actually starting working on the fire at about 11:00 a.m. The Hotshots went
down the road to a camping area to eat and get some sleep.

The day was hot and the relative humidity was dropping. The active fire
was on the east side of the Chewuch River, which itself was east of the road. Mr.
Deniels and Mr. Kampen had NWR # 6 cross the river and set up two pumps to
support firefighting efforts. The crew was largely unsuccessful, apparently as a
result of inexperience, in operating two water pumps. The vege-fation was dense,
making hand-line construction slow and hard. Several hand tools broke. The
intensity of the fire increased, single trees began to torch, and extensive spotting
occurred. The spots started to jump the control line. The fire started to move out

of the riparian area, into drier material, toward the east wall of the canyon.
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| According to the Okanogan National Forest Dispatch Log (Dispatch Log),
Mr. Daniels asked at 12:08 p.m. for Helicopter 13N to launch for the purpose of
dropping buckets of water on the fire. The helicopter was delayed until ébout 2:30
p.m. because of an issue about available dip sites. The Dispatch Log reflects that
at 12:30 p.m., Mr. Daniels asked for one or two additional crews. At 12:40 p.m.,
the Dispatch Center arranged for an Air A&ack aircraft, a single engine plane with
a pilot and a passenger who would coordinate air resources to include air tankers
and helicopters. Forest Service employee Gabe Jasso was the passenger/
coordinator in Air Attack. The Dispatch 'Log reflects that at 12:46 p.m., Mr.
Daniels stated that they did not need an air tanker at this time. A few minutes
later, the Dispatch Log shows that Mr. Daniels decided to send a runner to wake
up the Hotshots and to ask them to return to the fire.

According to the Dispatch Log, Air Attack reported ﬁt 1:38 p.m. that the fire
was getting active and had grown in the last half hour. Five minutes later, through
Air Attack, Mr. Daniels repeated his reqilest for two more crews and also asked
for a small air tanker.

Mr. Daniels and Mr. Kampen disengaged the fire at around 2:00 p.m. and

withdrew their crew across the river to the “lunch spot,” which was along the road
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just north of the point of origin. They indicated to the crew that they had lost the
fire and that it would be an “air show.” Crew members ate, and sorﬁe slept while
others worked on their tools. The first air tanker drop was unsuccessful in slowing
the fire’s advance up the east slope.

According to the Dispatch Log, at 2:27 p.m., Gabe Jasso in Air Attaék
arranged for two fire engines to travel to the Thirtymile Fire. At about 2:45 p.m.,
Helicopter 13N arrived with a 135-gallon bucket. Iinterviewed the helicopter
pilot, Paul Walters. He told me that he had expected to work in coordination with
NWR # 6, but the crew, to his surprise, was further up caﬁyon. Mr. Walters could
not see the crew at the lunch spot, let alone up canyon beyond the first tree line as
aresult of smoke, After consulting with Mr. Daniels and Air Attack, Mr. Walters
made bucket drops_ along the east flank of the fire, first on the slope (ineffective)
and then south of the lunch spot along the road. Helicopter 13N could not fly
further into the canyon because Mr. Walters could not see as a result of the smoke.
The helicopter was a non-factor in the events of the afternopn.

Air Attack left to refuel at 2:54 p.m. Lead 65, piloted by Gregory House,
replaced Air Attack as the aerial platform for the fire. Mr. House, who was a

former air tanker pilot, had as his primary responsibility, guiding air tankers on |
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their runs. Lead 65 made contact with Mr. Daniels and remained over the fire
until Air Attack returned at approximately 4:24 p.m.

According to the Dispatch Log, Engine 701 arrived at the fire at 3:24 p.m.
and Engine 704 arrived at 3:27 p.m. Harry Dunn, the foreman of Engine 701,
which was the larger of the two engines, stopped the engine at the lunch spot and
checked in with Mr. Daniels. As the Incident Commander, Mr. Daniels had
résponsibility for managing the use of the engines. Mr. Dunn told Mr. Daniels
that he would take the engines up canyon to patrol the road for spot fires in an
effort to keep the fire on the east side of the road. At this point, the fire was
burning up the east slope of the canyon and along the river.

Mr. Dunn, with Engine 701, drove a couple miles up (north) the canyon
road and turned around. On the way back down the canyon (south), Engine 701
encountered a spot fire on the east side of the road (but west of the river). Mr.,
Dunn and his crew sprayed the spot fire, which was about 100 feet in diameter and
had four-foot flame lengths. He then called for a hand crew to come up canyon to
dig a line around a spot that his engine had hosed down. Mr. Daniels and Mr.
Kampen, without scouting the fire, without notifying the aerial platform, and

without posting a lookout, took two of the three squads of NWR # 6 up canyon.
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Members of the squads saw that they passed a couple spot fires ‘as they drove up
canyon. In fact, Engine 704 was eutting out one. of those spot fires on the west
side of the road. One of the squads stopped to ask Engine 704 if it needed
assistance, Engine 704 declined the offer, and the squad contjnued up canyon to
Engine 701. I interviewed Mr, Dunn. He told me that Mr. Dani.els informed him,
upon arriving at Engine 701's location, that there were a couple of spot fires below
them. At 4:34 p.m., the fire burned across the road, north of the lunch spot and
south of the two squads. Engine 701 had just left the spot fire to get more water
and was able to drive south of the fire. Mr. Kampen had left the spot fire earlier to
pick up and transport the third squad up the canyon. He and the third squad,
trogether with the Entiat Hotshot crew, were on the south side of the fire.

The wildfire trapped two squads of the relatively inexperienced fire crew
and two hikers in the box canyon. Mr. Daniels had his 14-member team retreat
north to a location on the road, parallel to the Chewuch River. The river was on
the east and a scree slope was to the immediate west of the. road. The two
civilians, heading soutﬁ from the campground, joined the fire crew at this location.

Mr. Daniels and the two squads were at the location for over a half an hour

before the fire reached them. Mr. Daniels repeatedly told crew members to stay
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calm and he expressed his belief that the fire would burn around them. His plan
was to let the fire burn by to the north, up canyon, and then to drive south on the
road and out of the canyon. He took no steps to prepare the site or the crew for a
possible deployment of individual fire shelters. Even though an entrapment is
viewed by firefighting agencies as a highly unusual and undesirable development,
Mr. Daniels did not notify Dispaich of the entrapment. Instead, he spent his time
in radio communication with Gabe Jasso in Air Attack monitoring the prbgress' of
the fire. Heavy smoke inhibited Air Attack’s ability to see the fire. Members of
the (:rte,xvs}r did not remain together on the road. Instead, Squad Leader Tom Taylor
climbed up the scree-slope to get a better look at the progress of the fire. Squad
Boss Tom Craven and several firefighters walked up the scree slope a shoﬁ
distance and sat on some large rocks.

At 5:24 p.m., the fire jumped the river with great intensity and burned over
the two squads of NWR # 6 énd the two civilians. The crew members deployed
their fire shelters, 'eight on the road and six on the uneven scree slope. A
courageous rookie firefighter, Rebecca Welch, on the road placed herself at
personal risk by having the two civilians share her shelter. All four fatalities

occurred on the slope. Squad Boss Tom Craven and rookie firefighters Karen
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Fitzpatrick, Jessica Johnson, and Devin Weaver inhaled superheated air that had
entered their shelters, apparently through openings on the uneven ground. They
were asphyxiatéd. Firefighter Jason Emhoff, who also deployed on the scree
slope, sustéined serious bums, |

I have attached to this affidavit as Attachment A an aerial view of the
Chewuch River drainage that shdws the locations of the fire’s point of origin; a
point where some crew members of NWR '# 6 crossed the river when initially
fighting the fire on the east side of the river; the point where the fire crossed the
road, entrapping two squads of NWR # 6; the point where Engine 701 and the two
squads had been suppressing a spot fire immediately before the entrapment; and
the deployment site. I have attached to this affidavit as Attachments B, C, and D
diagrams that reflect the progression of the fire, both up the east slope of the
canyon wall and up the floor of the canyon, between approximately 3:20 p.m., just
before fhe two engines arrived at the fire, and approximately 5:30 p.m., just after
thé entrapped crew members deployed their fire shelters. I obtained these

documents from the Safety & Accident Investigation Team’s report.
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The Investigations

Both the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) and the
Forest Service conducted investigations into the events that resulted in the deaths
of the firefighters. The initial Forest Service investigation, kﬁown as the Safety &
Accident Investigation, involved representatives from the Forest Servicé and other
-agencies that have experience in firefighting operations such as the Bureau of
Land Management, the National Weather Service, and the national Interagency
Fire Center, OSHA and the Forest Service did a joint, videotaped interview with
Mr. Daniels on July 12, 2001. A different member of the Safety & Accident
Investigation Team did a brief, supplemental interview with Mr. Daniels on July
12, 2001. OSHA did a follow-up, audio taped interview on August 9, 2001.

After the Safety & Accident Investigation Team released a report that was
very critical of the performance of Forest Service managers and supervisors on the
Thirtymile Fire, to include that Mr. Daniels and others di-:s.playcd a serious lack of
situational awareness, and concluded that the deaths should not have occurred, the
Forest Service commissioned an Administrative Review Team to examine the
performance of the Forest Service senior personnel on the Thirtymile Fire and to

determine whether administrative discipline would be appropriate.
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The Administrative Review Team interviewed Mr. Daniels on March 14,
2002, and he signed a written declaration on March 28, 2002. After discipline_was
proposed, Mr. Daniels met with the Oral Reply Team on August 27, 2002. The
Forest Service removed Daniels from the fire program. He now works at the
supply cache.
Involuntary Manslaughter

OSHA found that the Forest Service supervisors had violated all ten of the
Standard Fire Orders in the National Wildfire Coordinating Group Fireline
Handbook and cited the Forest Service for several “willful” violations of_thc
Occupational 'Safety and Health Act. The Forest Service Safety & Accident
Investigation Team concluded that the fatalities were preventable and tﬁat a
combination of human errors and conditions in the canyon caused the loss of life.
Specifically, the Forest Service identified the following si gﬁiﬁcant causes that led
to j:he entrapment of the crew and the resulting deaths of four crew members:

1. Although the region had experienced an extended drought; although air

temperature was unusually high and relative humidity was unusually low;

and although a portion of the canyon contained a complex mixture of fuels
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that had a historically low moisture content; the supervisors consistently
underestimated the potential for éxtreme fire behavior.

2. Given the potential for extreme fire béhavior, the supervisors did net
have adequate ground and air tanker resources available to respond
promptly to the change in fire behavior.

- 3. Given the limited available resources to respond to the change in fire
behavior and the absence of a second escape route from the canyon, the
supervisors failed to withdraw the ﬁre crew from the canyon when the
initial attack failed and the fire began to grow.

4. Terrain blocked the view of the crew boss, which delayed his realization
that the fire had grown in size and intensity before his crew was trapped.

5. District fire management personnel did not take command of the incident
when the size and the complexity of the fire increased.

6.. Inadequate communication among supervisors in assessing and
responding to the change in fire behavior.

7. The fire crew and supervisors, both t.hose in direct command of the crew
and those managing the fire suppression in the area, were suffering from

sleep deprivation and fatigue, with work/rest cycles being disregarded,
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which impaired their vigilance and their decision-making in response to
changes in conditions.

8. The fire crew was not a cohesive unit because it contained two elements
that had not trained together and because some of the crew members were
mexperienced.

9. The dense forest and steep east wall of the canyon exacerbated fire-
induéed winds and caused the fire on the canyon floor to intensify quickly
as it approached the crew’s location. |

10. Although fhe crew boss retreated to a relatively good location given his
limited options in a narrow canyon, he failed to.utilize the available time to
ensure that the crew properly deployed their personal fire shelters. Asa
result, ‘the crew wasted time watching the fire and only deployed their
shelters as the fire was about to burn over them.

11. The crew boss failed to utilize the available time and to maintain
control over the crew to ensure that the crew membefé deployed their
personal fire shelters at locations on the road that maximized survivability.
12, All four fatalities occurred on the rocky slope above the road, where thc

heat was more intense on the upward slope as opposed to on the flat road
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and where the uneven ground madf_: proper cieployment of the shelters

difficult because the bottom of the shelters had gaps.

The Forest Service did not rank the significant causes in order of impact or
identify one pivotal decision or omission. However, the Forest Service made ciear
that the primary errors were (A) the failure to withdraw the crew from the canyon
when the initial attack failed and the supervisors realized that the fire was
growing, which fesulted in the entrapn%ent, and (B) the failure to use available
time to ensure that the crew properly deployed their personal fire shelters on the
best available site..

Although the status of the land as a component of a national forest does not
create federal criminal jurisdiction, the status of the four decedents as Forest
Service employees does confer jurisdiction on federal authorities to investigate
and, if appropriate, to prosecute the Forest Service supervisors who deployed and
directed the fire crew during the Thirtymile Fire. Section 1114 of Title 18 of the
United States Code provides in relevant part that “[wlhoever kills . . . any ofﬁ.cer
or employee of the United States or of any agency in any branch of the United
States Government . . . while such officer or employee is engaged in . . . the

performance of official duties . . . shall be punished . .. (2) in the case of
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manslaughter, as provided under section 1112; ....” Section 1112(a) of Title 18
defines manslaughter as “the unlawful killing of a human being without malice.”
This section encompasses involuntary manslaughter, which app.lies when the death
occurs “[i]n the commission of an unlawful act not amounting to a felony, or in the
comfnission in an unlawful manner, or without due cauti;)n and circumspection, of
a laﬁvful act which might produce death.” 18 U.S.C. § 1112(a).

In order to convict Mr. Daniels of involuntary manslaughter, the
Government would have to prove five essential elements:

First, Mr., Daniels committed a lawful act, done either in an unlawful

manner or with wanton or reckless disregard for human life, which might

produce death. | |

Second, Mr. Daniels’ act was the proximate cause of the death of the victim.

A proximate cause is one which played a substantial part in bringing about

the death, so that the death was the direct result or a reasonably probable

consequence of the defendant’s act.

Third, the killing was unlawful (without justification or excuse).
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Fourth, Mr. Daniels either knew that such conduct was a threat ;o the lives
of others or knew 0f circumstances that would reasonably cause him to
foresee that such conduct might be a threat to the lives of others.

Fifth, the decedent was a federal employee who, when killed, was engaged

in the performance of official duties.

See United States v. Shortman, 91 F.3d 80, 81-82 (9th Cir. 1996); United States v.
Keith, 605 F.2d 462, 463 (9th Cir, 1979); 9th Cir. Crim. Jury Instr. 8.92 (2003). |
Specifically, Mr. Daniels, the Crew Boss Trainer and the Incident Commander,
while lawfully engaged in suppressing a wildfire, wantonly and with reckless
disregard for human life exposed Forest Service firefighters under his command to
an obvious risk of death by directing them to fight the wildfire in a manner that
violated standard or accepted safety procedures.

During interviews or discussions with the Forest Service Safety & Accident
Investigation Team, OSHA, the Forest Servicé Administrative Review Team, and
the Forest Service Oral Reply Team, Ellfeese Daniels did not assert that he was
unqualified or not propetly trained for the job of Incident Commander on the
Thirtymile Fire or that Forest Service fire managers .gave him an assignment on

Jﬁly 10, 2001, that was beyond his capabilities. On the contrary, during his
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recorded interview with representatives of the Safety & Accident Investigation
Team and OSHA two days after the fatalities, Mr. Daniels stated that he is a Lead
Forestry Technician and that his “main job is initial attack supervisor.” He further
said that he had 24 years of experience ﬁghtihg fires and that he was ﬁ Crew Boss
Trainer. Mr. Daniels explained: “I’m Division/Group Supervisor qualified, what I
do 1s when new crew bosses come into the organization, I was appointed as a new
crew boss trainer, just Because of the number of years that I have and experience
that I have, and the trust level of some of the overhead teams.” He told the
Administrative Review Team that he had been a Division Group Supervisor for
about five years. In the declaration for the Administrative Review Team, Mr.
Daniels explained that “[m]y job as a Crew Boss Trainer is to shadow the Crew
Boss Trainee and answer questions and if he or she didn't feel comfortable then I
would take over.”

Barry George, the Methow Valley Ranger District’s Assistant Fire
Management Officer, traveled to the the Thirtymile Fire on fhe afternoon of |
Julylth. Mr. George met with Mr, Daniels after Mr. Daniels and Mr. Kampen
had disengaged NWR # 6 from firefighting operations and withdrawn the crew to

the lunch spot on west side of the river. Mr. George asked Mr. Daniels if he was
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comfortabie acﬁng as the Incident Commander (IC) for the fire thét afternoon.
Mr. Daniels gave Mr. George an affirmative response.

Every firefighter, and especially supervisors, are familiar with the ten Fire
Orders and eighteen Watch Out Situations. I interviewed OSHA Compliance
Officer Michael Bonkowski, who participated in the investigation of the
Thirtymile Fire and who interviewed Mr, Daniels on July 12, 2001, and August 9,
2001. Mr. Bonkowski informed me that the Fire Orders and Watch Out Situations
are accepted by federal and by mamjr state ﬁre fighting agencies and that OSHA
views them as mdustry standards for safe wildland ﬁreﬁghtiﬁg operations.

When Mr. Daniels permitted the engines, which had just arrived, to proceed
up the canyon and then he took two squads up the canyon to assist the engines
with spot fires, Mr. Daniels -violated several Fire Orders:

Fight fire aggressively but provide for safety first;

Recognize current weather conditions and obtain forecésts;

Establish lookouts in poteﬁtially hazardous situations; and

Determine safety zones and escape routes..

Mr. Daniels also ignored several Watch Out Situations:

Fire not scouted and sized up;
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Unburned fuel between you and fire;

Cannot see main fire; not in contact with someone who can;

Weather becoming hotter and drier;

Getting frequent spot fires across the line; and

Terrain and fuels make escape to safety zones difficult,

- Given the steep canyon walls, and the vegetation, the road was the only viable
escape route from the canyon. Mr. Daniels acknowledged in the videotaped
interview on July 12, 2001, that green foliage had been burning earlier in the day,
which he recognized was unusual, Moreover, Mr. Daniels and Mr, Kampen

| disengaged the fire earlier in the d;ay after trees began torching, which generated
airborne embers that caused spot fires. In the videotaped interview, Mr. Daniels
said that the fire had made “pretty intense” quarter-mile runs; that the relative
humidity had fallén to about 8 or 9%; that the wind was about 17 mph; and that
the winds were pushing up canyon; after he disengaged the fire on thé east side of
the river and pulled the crew back to the lunch area. These conditions would
support extreme fire behavior. Nevertheless, Mr. Daniels re-engaged the fire
without posting a lookout who could see what the fire was doing. Similarly, Mr.

Daniels did not send anyone to scout the fire before re-engaging. He did not
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inform Gregory House in Lead 65 that the engines or NWR # 6 was engaging the
fire. Mr. House told me that he assumed Mr. Daniels and his crew were at the heal
of the fire. He could not see the engines or the firefighters in their Sfellow
uniforms. If Mr. Daniels had told Mr. House that he intended to re-engage the fire
by moving up the canyon, Mr. House would have told him that it looked bad.

When Air Attack returned over the canyon about ten minutes before the
entrapment, Gabe Jasso contaclted Mr. Daniels. He too assumed that NWR #6
was still disengaged. Mr. Daniels did not inform Mr. Jasso of the location of the
engines or the crew. Mr. J assﬁ took photographs shortly before the entrapment
which show that the canyon floor was covered in smoke.

By violating several Fire Orders and ignoring several Watch Out Situations,
Mr. Daniels’ conduct resulted in the entrapment. When he retreated to a location
up the canyon, Mr. Daniels again engaged in gross negligence by failing to
prepare the crew for a possible-deployment. Even though Mr. Daniels had been
surprised by the intensity of the fire behavior eatlier in the day and had been
surprised by the fire when it entrapped a portion of the crew, he ignored the
possibility of a burnover and instead told crew members that he expected the fire

to burn around them.
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Iinterviewed firefighter Beau J. Clark. He was assigned to Squad # 1, with
Tom Craven as his Squad Boss. He joined the Forest Service in 2001; the .
Thirtymile Fire was his second fire. Mr. Clark told me that recognizing and being
aware of weather conditions was part of Fire School Training. Although he knew
that weather for the day was very hot,' dry, and low relative humidity, Mr. Clark
depended on his supervisor to direct him through whatever situation might arise.
He commented that a person on his second fire is not going to question the
decisions and the directives of a crew boss with 25 years of experience even if the
weather conditions create danger because they would support extreme fire
behavior.

[ interviewed Jason W. Emhoff. He was assigned to Squad #1, with Tom
Craven as the Squad Boss. The summer of 2001 was his third season fighting fire
with the Forest Service. Mr. Emhoff expressed the opinion that Mr. Daniels should
have taken into account the make up of the crew before re-engaging. There were
so many rookie firefighters and also the crew was comprised of people from
different ranger districts who had never worked togethef. He felt Mr. Daniels
should have briefed everyone when they arrived ét the deployment site, told them

what the plan was, and asked for questions from the group.
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I interviewed Scott Scherzinger, who was a sawyer assigned to Squad #1
with Tom Craven as the Squad Boss. Mr. Scherzinger explained that although the
crew initially believed that the fire would burn by them, the crew began to become
concerned they might have to deploy when spot fires began occurring on the
hillsides énd it started raining down embers. Mr. Scherzinger and Beau J. Clark
asked Mr. Daniels what was going to happen. According to Mr. -Scherzinger, Mr.
Daniels replied that he hoped that the fire would blow by fhem. They knew whére
the fire was coming from and could see it getting darker from the smoke. Mr.
Scherzinger said that the smoke column was building, there were 200-foot flames
through the tops of the trees, and they could hear the fire coming through the trees.
Then the embers started coming down. The fire progressed from spot fires to
flames coming over them, all within about 5 to 10 minutes, more likely 5 minutes.
It went from a situation where conversation was still possible to sounding like a
freight train was coming over them. According to Mr, Scherzinger, he made his
own decision to deploy his shelter. He kept his pack on when he entered fhe
shelter, although the training is to remove the pack and to leave the pack outside
the shelter. Mr. Scherzinger had fusees in his pack, which fortunately did not

ignite. He did place the saw and the fuel in the van before the burnover,
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I interviewed Elaine A. Hurd, who was assigned to Squad # 2 with Tom
Taylor as the Squad Boss. She was a rookie; the Thirtymile Fire was her first fire.
There was no preparation for deployment; neithér was there any preparation of the
site for deployment. No one ever made sure that each person had gloves, a helmet,
and other items needed for deployment or that each person had taken their pack off
and set it out of the way, | Mr. Daniels only told them, initially, to “get your
shelters out and shield yourselves”, which they did at first, but then got inside the
shelters shortly. Ms. Hurd stated that she believes_ that they all should have been
in a straight line to deploy. She remembered from somewhere, guard school (basic
firefighter training) maybe, that deploying in a line helps to deflect the heat better.

I interviewed Entiat Hotshot Superintendent Marshall Brown,

Corroborating Ms. Hurd, Mr. Brown stated that the proper procedure for a
deployment is to line the crew up in a row to maximize the reflective power of the
shelters. During a discussion witfl Ken Snell, a member of the Oral Reply Tean'i
and the current Director of Fire and Aviation for the Forest Service’s Pacific
Northwest Region, he confirmed that personnel are trained to group the shelters

together to enhance their reflective power.
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During interviews, several current and former Forest Service employees told

me that one segment of the wildland ﬁréﬁghting community views depléyment of
~ fire shelters as an occurrence to be.avoided because it is an acknowledgment of an

error that led to the event and becaﬁse it brings into question the toughness of the
firefighter. When I interviewed Gabe Jasso, he commented that Mr. Daniels
sounded almost aﬁﬁlogetic when Mr. Jasso re-established radio contact and asked
if the crew had deployed shelters.
Material False Statements

In order to convict Mr. Daniels of making a false statement, in violation of
18 U.S.C. § 1001, the Unité‘.d‘ Stéteé would have to prove beyond a reasonable
doubt thg following elements:

First, Mr. Daniels made a false statement in a matter within the jurisdiction

gf an agency (Forest Service, USDA, or OSHA, U.S. Department of Labor)

of the executive branch of the United States;

Second, Mr. Daniels acted intentionally, that is deliberately and with

knowledge that the statement was untrue; and
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Third, the statement was material to an activity or a decision of the agency

of the United States because the statement could have influenced the

activity or the decision,
9th Cir. Crim. Jury Instr. 8.66 (2003).
A. Fire Engines Did Check In With IC Daniels Upon Arriving at the Fire

Count Eight alleges that, on August 9, 2001, during a taped interview with a
representative of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), in
response to a question as to whether Mr. Daniels knew thaf two fire engines had
arrived at the fire, Mr, Daniels stated that neither of thé two fire engines, which
were designated as Engine 701 and Engine 704, stopped to talk to Mr. Déinicls or
to the Crew Boss Trainee for the Northwest Regular # 6 firefighting crew when
they arrived at the Thirtymile Fire on the afternoon of July 10, 2001; that the
engines were “doing their own thing;” and that neither of the engines ever
contacted Mr. Daniels or the Crew Boss Trainee. Pete' Kampen was the Crew -
Boss Trainee.

On March 14, 2002, the Forest Service Administrative Review Team, which
‘was examining the conduct of Forest Service employees who worked on the

Thirtymile Fire, interviewed Mr. Daniels. The substance of the interview was
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reduced to a typed declaration, which Mr. Daniels signed on March 28, 2002. The
declaration states that Mr. Daniels is making the “following statement freely and
voluntarily knowing that this statement may be used in evidence.” The
declaration ﬁlrther' provides that Mr. Daniels understands that “this stétement is
not confidential and may be shown to any interested party on a need to know basis
for purposes of making administrative decisions to the extent allowéd by law.”
Count Nine étlleges that Mr. Daniels stated to the Administrative Review Team
that neither of the two fire engines, which were designated as Engine 701 and
Engine 704, checked in with Mr. Daniels when they arrived ét the Thirtymile Fire
on the afternoon of July 10, 2001.

In his typed declaration, Mr. Daniels stated that he himself had served as an
engine foreman for aboﬁt four years. Mr. Daniels’ declaration further read: “I was
asked if as the IC [Incident Commander] I would expect the engines to check in
with me. As IC I would expect the engines to check in. As long as I am assigned
to that piece of ground then the engines should check in with me. . . .. The
engines did not check in with me.” The Administrative Review Team asked Mr.
Daniels if he knew the engines’ mission. Mr. Daniels’ declaration read: “The

only thing I knew they were for was to replace two crews.” The Dispatch Log
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reflects that Mr. Daniels requested two additional crews as reinforcements at about
12:30 p.m. He repeated the request for two more crews at 1:43 p.m.-

The Forest Service proposed to take disciplinary action against Harry Dunn,
tﬁe foreman of the larger of the two fire engines, Engine 701, on the ground that
he proceeded up the Chewuch Canyon and eﬁgaged the fire without checking in
with Incident Commander Ellreese Daniels. The smaller engine, Engiﬁe 704, was
operating under the direction of Mr. Dunn. Mr. Daniels’ assertions that the
engines did not check in with him was material to both the Forest Service and
OSHA because the engines moving up canyon beyond the lunch spot and
engaging fhe fire was the first step in the chain of events that resulted in the
entrapmeﬁt of two squads of the NWR # 6. Engine 701 went up the canyon,
encountered a spot fire, sprayed the spot fire, and then requested Mr. Daniels to

.bring firefighters up to the spot to dig a line around the spot. The firefighters were
unable to retreat down their escape route before the fire burned across the road and
entrapped them.

I intervi_cw.ed Harry Dunn. He has worked for the Forest Service since
1974. Mr. Dunn had experience on two Hotshot crews and as an engine crewman,

before becoming an Engine Crew Foreman in 1994, Mr. Dunn explained that
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Okanogan National Forest Dispatcher Ed Hutton dispatchéd Mr. Dunn’s engine
and Engine 704 to the Thirtymile Fire. Mr, Hutton advised Mr. Dunn that Ellreese
Daniels was the Incident Commander and that his instructions were to patrol the
Chewuch River Road and keep the fire from crossing the road to the west side.
The Dispatch Log refers to getting a couple of engines at 2:27 p.m. At 2:31 p.m,,
the Dispatch Log reflects that Engine 701 estimated that it would arrive at the
Thirtymile Fire in about 45 minutes. According to the Dispatch Log, Engine 701
arrived at the fire at 3:24 p.m. and Engine 704 arrived at 3:27 p.m.

Mr. Dunn told me that he stopped at the lunch spot where the Incident
Commander, Mr. Daniels, and his crew were éating and rcsting. Mr. Dunn got out
of his engine seat, stood on the running board, leaned across and spoke to Mr.
Daniels, who was inside his vehicle, with the door open, eating lunch, Mr. Dunn
estimated that he was about 20 feet away from Mr. Daniels, looking directly at
him, and told him that Engines 704 and 701 had been sent up to patrol the road
and extinguish spot fires, to keep the main fire from crossing to the west side of
the road. According to Mr. Dunn, Mr. Daniels nodded, as an acknowledgment

that he understood Mr. Dunn’s mission and approved.
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Mr. Dunn explained to me that he talked with Mr, Daniels after the fire, and
that Mr. Daniels said that he remembered tying in (having verbal /visual contact)
with Mr, Dunn at the lunéh spot as the engine crews were heading up canyon to
patrol the road and to work on spot fires. Mr. Dunn asked Mr. Daniels to write a
memo acknowledging the contact, but Mr. Daniels never did. According to Mr.
Dunn, he would have used this memo in the Administrative Investigation in which
he was cited for failing to brief with the Incident Commander upon arrival at the
fire.

I recently spoke with Ken Snell, who was a member of the Oral Reply Team
and who in 2002 was the Acting Deputy Director of Fire and Aviation in the
Pacific Northwest Region. Mr. Snell explained that the Oral Reply Team
consisted of three people who had not previously participated in the Forgst
Service’s Administrative Review. Forest Service employees who were the subject
of proposed disciplinary action had the opportunity to meet with the Oral Reply
Team and explain their positions. Mr. Snell told me that the Oral Reply Team
visited the Chewuch River Canyon and that Ellreese Daniels, Harry Dunn, Pete
Kampen, and another person who was the subject of proposed discipline

voluntarily accompanied them. Mr. Snell recalled that Harry Dunn, in front of Mr.
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Daniels, acted out the events upon the arrival of Engine 701 at the fire. Mr.
Dunn’s rendition of the events to the Oral Reply Team was the same as hg told me
during my interview. Mr. Snell stated that the team asked Mr. Daniels if Mr.
Dunn’s description of the events was accurate. Mr. Daniels acknowledged that
Mr. Dunn’s description was accurate. As a result, the Orall Reply Team
recommended that the specification against Mr. Dﬁnn that he failed to check in
with the Incident Commander be dropped. The Forest Service did drop that
specification.

I asked Mr. Snell why the Forest Service did not add a specification in the
administrative disciplinary process against Mr. Daniels for lying about the engines
failing to check in with him before they proceeded up the canyon. Mr, Snell
responded that the revelation of the false statement came late in the administrative
process and that it was not the role of the Oral Reply Team to propose additional
specifications.

B. IC Daniels Did Not Direct Firefighters to Come Down Off the Rock Slope

Count Six alleges that Mr. Daniels, during an interview with a member of
the Forest Service Safety & Accident Investigation Team, on July 12, 2001, in

response to a question about what communication took place between Mr. Daniels
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and a small group of firefighters who -were on a scree slope above a road at the site
where the entrapped members of the NWR # 6 firefighting crew eventually -
deployed their fire shelters, Mr. Daniels stated that he told the group at least three
times to come down out of the rocks because that is not the place to be. Count
Seven alleges that during that same interview, in response to a question about
whether Mr. Daniels had any idea why the small group of firefighters did not do as
he asked to cco.me down out of the rocks, Mr. Daﬁicls stated that he did not have
any idea and that he wished that he could have made them listen. Tony Kern, a |
technical specialist with the National Interagehcy Fire Cenfer, conducted this
interview. The substance of the interview was shared with OSHA, which
participated in some of the interyiews' with.the Forest Service Safety & Accident
Investigation Team to include 2 much more extensive, videotaped interview with
Mr. Daniels that same day.

On March 14, 2002, the Forest Service Administrative Review Team, which
was exainining the éonduct of Forest Service emplbyees who worked on the
- Thirtymile Fire, interviewed Mr. Daniels. The substance of the interview was
réduced to a typed declaration, which Mr. Daniels signed on March 28, 2002.

Count Ten alleges that Mr. Daniels, while describing the events from the time that
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a portion of the Northwest Regular # 6 firefighting crew re-engaged the wildfire
through the deployment of fire shelters by the entrapped crew members, stated to
the Administrative Review Team that he told Tom Craven and the other |
firefighters who were with Tom Craven in a loud voice to come down from the
scree slope to the road, but that the firefighters did nof come down from the scree
slope.

I interviewed Tom Taylor, who was thé Squad Boss for Squad # 2. He told
me that after Squad # 1 and Squad # 2 dismounted from the van at the location
where the entrapped crew eventually deployed their fire shelters, he suggestéd to
Mr. Daniels that they improve the site by using a saw to cut some trees and brush.
Mr. Daniels indicated that cutting trees and brush would not be necessary. Mr.
Taylor then went up the scree slope by himself to obtain a better view of what the
fire was doing. As a Squad Boss, Mr, Taylor had a radio. Likewise, as a Squad
Boss, Tom Craven had a radio. Mr. Taylor advised me that Mr. Daniels did not
direct him to return to the road. More.over, Mr. Taylor did not hear Mr. Daniels
direct, either over the radio or without the radio, Tom Craven and the firefighters
who were with Mr. Craven to come down from the scree slope. Mr. Taylor was

some distance above Mr. Craven and the other firefighters on the scree slope. -
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I interviewed firefighter Jason W. Emhoff. Mr. Emhoff had a radio because
he was qualified to serve as a Squad Boss. According to Mr. Emhoff, Mr. Daniéls
did nothing to keep crew mémbers together at the deployment site. Wﬁen they
arﬁved at the deployment site, there was no briefing. Mr, Emhoff reported that |
people dispersed and Mr. Daniels got on the radio with Air Attaék Coordinator
Gabe Jasso and Entiat Hotshot Superintendent Marshall Brown. Mr. Emhoff
recalled that Mr. Daniels had, at some po.int, said the road or the river Would be
the best place to be. Mr. Emhoff reported that he nevér heard Mr. Daniels tell
anyone to come down off the scree slope nor did he hear Mr. Daniels give any
such orders on the radio. Mr. Emhoff explained that he would have heard any
such directive because he and his four fellow crew members were only about 15
feet away from Mr. Daniels. They were sitting on some large rocks about 15 — 20
feet above the road, at the base of the .scree slope. The other crew members on the
rocks with him were Tom Craven, the Squad #1 Squad Boss, Karen Fitzpatrick,
Jessica Johnson, and Devin Weaver, all of whom were killed in the fire. Mr.
Embhoff estimated that Tom Taylor was about 40 feet above them.

According to Mr. Emhoff, the situation got worse in a hurry. ‘Embers and

heat came down all of a sudden, then a blast of intense heat. There were already
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spot fires starting on the scree slope on the west side of the road. Everyone on the
rocks near the road started to get worried. They could see the smoke .column léy
down, accompanied by a loud blast, then thé embers and heat. They went from
being relatively comfortable to panic within about two minutes. They would have
headed to the road to deploy but they got hit by a blast of heat, then started
running back up the scree slope, trying fo get above the heat. Soon they were
overcome and had to deploy in the scree.

Mr. Emhoff related that after a few moments in his shelter, he decided he
would not be able to withstand the heat and decided to make a run for the van
parked on the road. He did not have his gloves and, while pausing behind a large
rock to momentarily get a break from the direct heat, burned his hands on the rock.
Then he ran down the slope, opened the van, and got inside, burning his hands
even more on the red-hot door handles.

I interviewea former firefighter Rebecca Welch. She explained that upon
parking the van at the location that bécame the deployment site, some crew
members stayed on the road, some w.alked along the road to a rock area, and some
went up the scree slope. Ms. Welch never heard Mr. Daniels give any instruction

for everyone to stay together. According to Ms. Welch, Mr. Daniels was thinking
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aloud, considering options for possible deployment: maybe the sandbar; maybe
the road; maybe the rocks. She did not recall hearing a decision or a conclusion.
She would have liked to have had some direction or instruction at thié point. Ms.
Welcﬁ initially walked up onto the scree slope and talked with Squad Boss Tom
Craven and other crew members. She estimated that she remained on the scree /
rocks for about 20 - 25 minutes. According to Ms. Welch, at first, everyone was
thinking.that the fire would go around them. As the fire intensity grew, Ms.
Welch became more worried and scared. She was still on the rocks and could hear
the fire, see it, and smell it. During her basic firefighter training, Ms. Welch heard
that deployment on rocks would be acceptable if a good seal could be achieved.
She personally never thought that it would be a good idea to deploy in rocks
because rocks would heat up. Ms, Welch decided that it would be safer on the
road, nextl to the Incident Commander, so she came down from the rocks and
rejoined Mr. Daniels on the road. Mr. Daniels was very calm, talking constantly
on the radio to Air Attack.

Ms. Welch estimated that she had been on the road about five to six minutes
before they finally deployed. She recalled that during this time, Mr. Daniels said

to Tom Taylor, who was about 75 feet up the scree slope scouting the fire —

Affidavit of John R. Parker
37 of 52




something like: “Hey Tom .... Probably should come down, you’re a little too
high” and / or “What are you doing up there. ... Maybe you should come down.”
Ms. Welch recalled that Mr. Daniels motioned Mr. Taylor_to come down. Ms.
Welch told me that Mr. Taylor may hav;a then started moving slowly, but never
calme down to the road. She saw a spot fire high on the slope.

Ms. Welch was almost positive that Mr. Taylor was the only pefson whom
Mr. Daniels told to come down. ,Shé remembered no instruction being given by
Mr. Daniels to anyone else to come down off the rocks or to come back to the
road. Ms. Welch explained that everyone but Mr. Taylor who was not on the road
with Mr, Daniels was no more than 50 feet away from him and could have come
down to him quickly. She expressed the opinion that had Tom Craven received an
order to come down to the road, he would have responded.

During my interview with Mr, Rutman, he explaiﬁed that upon getting out
of the van at the location that became the deployment site, Mr. Daniels might have
said something about the group staying together. Mr. Rutman recalled that Mr.
Daniels made some comment later on about Squad Boss Tom Taylor being up on
the scree slope, or he may have asked who that was up on the scree, but dropped

the issue when he found out it was Tom Taylor. Mr. Rutman also stated that Mr.,
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Daniels also might have made a comment about the people on the rock, just off the
road, but he did not recall Mr. Daniels ever telling them to come down or giving
any directions to not be on the rocks, other than a statement to the crew that “we
should all be on the road.”

I interviewed Beau J. Clark. He was assigned to Squad #1, with Tom
_Craven as the Squad_Boss and with Rebecca Welch as one of the squad members.
He never heard Mr. Daniels yell to anyone to come down off the rocks. According -
to Mr. Clark, no need to yell existed because those crew members on the rocks
were basically with the rest of the group, since they were no more than 20 feet or
so off the road. During the 45 minutes they were all entrapped prior to
deployment, all the crew members were within talking distance, so Mr. Daniels
would not have needed to yell to get anyone’s attention. That is, up until things
went black (when the fire activity suddenly became intense, moments before
deployment).

Scott Scherzinger told me that he had no recollection of Mr. Daniels giving
orders to anyone to come down off the slope during the time before deployment.

I interviewed former firefighter Armando M. Avila. At the Thirtymile Fire,

Mr. Avila had a radio because he was a Squad Boss Trainee. He explained that
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Tom Craven’s squad was about 10 feet off the foad, on a large rock. Mr. Avila
stated that he never heard Mr. Daniels tell them to come down off the rock or to
come to the road. Mr. Daniels did, however, tell Mr. Avila at one point to come
back to the road. Mr. Avila was on a boulder, just off the foad, chcckihg out the
fire when Mr. Daniels made this statement, the gist of which was that they needed
to stay together on the road. Mr. Avila went up onto the scree slope to see how it
looked for a deployment site and did not like the looks of the area — too much
debris in the rock and it looked like the flames could fan up slope. Mr. Taylor
shouted for him to go back to the road during this time also. Mr. Avila never
heard Mr. Daniels tell Tom Taylor to come down or come back to the road.
According to Mr. Avila, Mr. Taylor had gone up the scree slopte as a lookout, to
scout the fire. Mr. Avila emphasized that the only person whom he heard Mr.
Daniels instruct to come back to the road was himself.

Elaine A, Hurd recalled that Mr. Daniels was upset that people were
scattered, but yet he gave no orders to anyone to get back with the group and stay
together. According to Ms. Hurd, if he ever yelled anything to anyone, it would
have been to Tom Taylor, who was up the scree slope checking out the fire

behavior. She did not recall Mr. Daniels ever yelling to anyone to come down or
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ordering anyone down (off the scree slope). She récalled that he only said: “We
all need to be together.... we need to be right here.” According to Ms. Hurd,
however, Mr. Daniels never said this loudly enough for anyone away from him to
hear this and never yelled this to anyone. He was just pacing, while also on the
radio. |

Mr. Daniels’ false statements about directing Tom Craven and the
firefighters who were with him to come down off the scree slopé to the road was
material to the Forest Service because the Forest Service listed the falsé statement
to the Administrative Review Team as one of the specifications that could support
disciplinary action against Mr. Daniels. Ken Snell, who was a meﬁber of the Oral
Reply Team and who in 2002 was the Acting Deputy Director of Fire and Aviation
in the Pacific Northwest Region, confirmed for me that the issue of Mr, Daniels
directing Mr. Craven and the firefighters who lwere with Mr. Craven to retumn to
the road was material to the Forest Service. He recalled that Mr. Daniels went
through the events at the deployment site in detail with the Oral Reply Team. 1
also recently interviewed OSHA Compliance Officer Michael Bonkowski.. He
told me that the issue of Mr. Daniels directing Tom Craven and the firefighters

who were with him to come down off the scree slope to the road likewise was
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material to OSHA'’s investigation. The consensus of experts is that all four
deceased firefighters would have survived if they had deployed their fire shelters
on the road near the other crew members.

C. IC Daniels Did Not Tell Firefighter Welch to Take Civilians Into Her Shelter

Count Five alleges that during an interview with a member of the Safety and
Accident Investigaﬁon Team and an OSHA representative, on July 12, 2001, while
describing the events following the entrapment of a portion of the NWR # 6
firefighting crew and through the deployment of fire shelters by those crew
members, Mr. Daniels stated that he told a female firefighter to get two civilians
into her fire shelter and to keep them in her shelter. The female firefighter was
Rebecca Welch, who was a rookie on her second fire. The two civilian campers
were Paula and Bruce Hagemeyer.

On March 14, 2002, the Forest Service Administrative Review Team, which
was examining the conduct of Forest Service employees who worked on the
Thiftymile Fire, interviewed Mr. Daniels. The substance of the interview was
reduced to a typed declaration, which Mr. Daniels signed on March 28, 2002.
Count Eleven alleges that, while describing the events from the time that a portion

of the Northwest Regular # 6 firefighting crew re-engaged the wildfire through the
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deployment of fire shelters by the entrapped crew members, Mr, Daniels stated to
the Administrative Review Team that he told a female firefighter to get a female
civilian and a male civilian into her fire shelter and to keep them in her shelter.

During my interview with Ms. Welch, she explained that she did not talk to
the civilians prior to deployment, and she did not see them talking to Mr. Daniels.
According to Ms. Welch; the Hagameyers were “ﬁ'eakiﬁg out” while talking to the
other crew members. When the embers started raining down on everyone, Ms.
Welch asked: “What are we supposed to do?” She got no response from anyone.
Ms. Welch was down on her knees at this pbint, facing uphill, struggling to get her
shelter out of her pack. Mr. Daniels, who had already said to deploy, was behind
her, Ms. Welch asked Mr. Daniels to help her get her fire shelter ouf, which he did
and handed it to her. Unlike a few other crew members, Ms. Welch had no
recollection of being told initiall& to take shelters out and use them as a shield
over their heads and shoulders until the time to deploy inside them.

Ms. Welch recalled that the Hagemeyers were panicking, saying: “You gotta
help us.... No one’s helping us!” She then took them into her shelter with her
without really thinking about it. The Hagemeyers continued to panic inside her

shelter, asking what they should do. Paula Hagemeyer said she could not breathe
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and tried to open the shelter. Ms. Welch told Mrs. Hagemeyer to stop talking and
to hold the shelter tightly down over them. Ms. Welch sustained minor burns
while deploying and while in the shelter, She pointed out the scars from these
burns during the interview.

‘Ms. Welch was adamant that Mr. Daniels never instructed her to take the
Hagemeyers into her shelter. That instrﬁctioﬁ would not have made sense to her.
The shelter is intended for one person. If Mr. Daniels. had instructed. her to take
the Hagemeyers into her shelter, Ms. Welch would have replied: “You take one
and I’ take one.” Mr. Daniels got her shelter out of her pack from behind her,
handed her shelter to her, and that is all the help or instruction that she recalls that

‘she received from Mr. Daniels. Sometifne during all this unfolding eveht, she
heard Mr. Daniels on the radio telling someone that they had deployed.

Ms. Welch explained that when it was safe, Mr. Daniels yelled for everyone
to go to the river. She and the Hagemeyers went to the river. Ms, Welch gave her
shelter to the Hagemeyers and she got under Matthew Rutman’s shelter with him.
There, submerged in the ri\}er about waist deep, they all héld their shelters over

their heads to protect themselves from embers and debris.
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My interviews with several other members of NWR # 6 corroborate Ms.
Welch’s statement that Mr. Daniels did not direct her to take Paula and Bruce
Hagemeyer info her ﬁré shelter. Beau J. Clark, a member of Squad #1 , Tecalled
that after becoming entrapped, but prior to deployment, Bruce and Paula
Hagemeyer showed up. The Hagemeyers changed into long pants and shirts,
which Mr. Clark thought were their own. Mr. Clark stated that neither IC Daniels
nor either of the squad boéses ever directed anyone to take the Hagemeyers into
their shelters. Mr. Clark told me that Scott Scherzinger initially covered Mrs.
Hagemeyer with his fire shelter, using the shelter as an overhead shield. Mr. Clark
said that he wiped embers off both of the Hagemeyers. Then later, Rf_:becca Welch
took both Hagemeyers into her shelter with her. Mr. Clark, who had been talking
with Scott Scherzinger, deployed his shelter next to Nick Dreis.

Scott Scherzinger told me that he did not know what Mr. Daniels might
have said to the Hagemeyers prior to deployment (if anything). He recalled that
thé Hagemeyers did change out of their own clothes into long pants and shirts, that
he believed were provided by the crew. Mr. Scherzinger stated that he knocked
embers off of Mrs. Hagemeyer. He recalled that she was a little nervous. Mr.

Scherzinger told me that he did not hear Mr, Daniels tell Rebecca Welch to take
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the Hagemeyers into her shelter, but he noted that the fire was getting louder. Mr.
Scherzinger did state that he never heard of putting three people in one shelter and
that he never received training on putting three people intﬁ a single shelter. He
recalled that Mr. Daniels only told the crew members to get their shelters out and
use the shelters to shield themselves.

Armando M. Avila was a Squad Boss Trainee assigned to Squad # 2, with
Tom Taylor as his Squad Boss. Mr. Avila told me that at one point he went up the
- scree slope to see how it looked for a deployment site. He did not like the looks of
the area — too much debris in the rock and it looked like the flames could fan
upslope. Squad Boss Tom Taylor, who was up on the slope, shouted for him to go
back to the road. When Mr. Avila got back to the road, the Hagemeyers had
arrived and were asking Mr. Daniels what they should do. Mr. Avila recalled that
Mr. Daniels responded by telling them to keep calm énd that it will be alright. He
stated that someone \got the Hagemeyers long pants to put on, possibly at Mr.
Daniels’ request,

Mr. Avila recalled that Mr. Daniels told those around him on the road to get
their shelters out and cover their friends. Then it got hot and dark, and Mr.

Daniels told them to get inside their shelters. According to Mr. Avila, Mr. Daniels
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never instructed Rebecca Welch to take the Hagemeyers into her shelter. Mr.,
Avila explained that he would have heard this because he was no more 'than ten
feet away from Mr. Daniels during this time.

During my interview with Elaine A. Hurd, she said that she thought
someone may have looked around for extra shelters for the Hagemeyers, but found
none. Ms, Hurd stated that she never heard Mr. Daniels instruct Rebecca Welch to
take the Hagemeyers into her shelter, She and everyone else were within about a
20-foot radius of each other. |

During my interview with Matthew D. Rutman, he recalled the Hagemeyeré
arrived just prior to deployment. Mr. Rutman said that he had stopped writing in
his journal by this time and was pretty tuned in to Mr. Daniels during the 20
minutes leading to the deployment. According to Mr. Rutman, Mr. Daniels had no
interaction with the Hagemeyers other than to say the road was closed ahead due
to fire across the road. Mr. Rutman never heard Mr. Daniels direct Rebecca
Welch to take the Hagemeyers into her shelter. Mr. Rutman explained that he was
close enough to Mr. Daniels to have heard this, and that he deployed his shelter
near Mr. Daniels. According to Mr. Rutman, the only thing that Mr. Daniels said

was to “cover your buddies” (with your shelter), which he thought was a weird
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command, as this procedure was not taught in any training. | Nevertheless, Mr.
Rutman covéred himself and Mr, Daniels initially, before getting into the shelter.

Bruce and Paula Hagemeyer provided the Safety & Accident Investigation
Team with written statements. Idid n.ot interview them because they have a civil
lawsuit pending against the United States and their written statements were quite
detailed.

In a statement dated July 18, 2001, Bruce Hagemeyer explained that when
they first encountered the firefighters he and his wife spoke to Karen Fitzpatrick.
They then walked among the firefighters, speaking to Armando Avila. They asked
him who was in charge. The conditions started to get “pretty intense.” Paula
Hagemeyer asked Mr. Daniels what they should do. Mr, Daniels replied: “Don’t
panic.” Mr. Hagemeyer recalled that his wife commented to him that they were
own their own and were not getting any help. They put on long pants and long
sleeve jackets. Mr. Hagemeyer recalled that during the ember shower Scott
Scherzinger and Beau Clark knocked embers off them. He then saw Mr, Daniels | |
with a square package in his hand and give it to Rebecca Welch. Mr. Hagemeyer
initially thought that Mr. Daniels was distributing shelters, but he was just helping |

Ms. Welch get her shelter out. Describing their feelings as frustration and
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helplessness, Mr. Hagemeyer recalled that his wife was crying out: “Help us, help
us.” He and his wife then dove into Ms. Welch’s shelter. Mr. Hagemeyer
observed that a lack of preparation must have occurred for two civilians to end up
in the shelter of a rookie firefighter on the edge of the road rather than in the road.
In a letter dated August 13, 2001, Paula Hagemeyer wrote that Mr. Daniels
barely acknowledged her and that his only advice was “just don’t panic.” She and
her husband put on long pants and long shirts that they retrieved from their truck.
Mrs, Hagemeyer estimated that they milled around with members of the crew for
about 15 to 20 minufes before the burn-over. She commented that they felt
helpless, but that the crew had plenty of time to prepare “for the worse case
scenario” as the ﬁl;e came closer and closer. Mrs. Hagemeyer recalled hearing Mr.
Daniels tell the crew to get out their shelters. Accérding to Mrs. Hagemeyer, Mr.
Daniels ignored them. She recalled asking Mr. Daniels if it would be okay'to have
a towel in the shelter. Mr. Daniels indicated in the afﬁrinative, but told her not to
wet it. As the flames approached, she said: “Somebody help us; somebody help
us.” According to Mrs. Hagemeyer, nobody helped. She and her husband then

dove into the nearest shelter, which belonged to Rebecca Welch, Mrs. Hagemeyer -
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wrote: “I am, indeed grateful, Rebecca did not ask us to leave her one-person
shelter and was able to find the human decency of sharing it with two ciﬁlians.”

Mr. Daniels’ false statements about directing Ms. Welch to take the |
Hagemeyers into her fire shelter was material to the Forest Service because the
Forest Service listed the false statement to the Administrative Review Team as one
of the specifications that could support disciplinary action against Mr. Daniels.
Ken Snell, who was a member of the Oral Reply Team,-conﬁrmed for me that the
‘issue of Mr. Daniels telling Ms. Welch to take the civilians into her shelter was
material to the Forest Service. OSHA Compliance Officer Michael Bonkowski
informed me that the issue of Ms. Welch taking the civilians into her shelter was
not material to OSHA’s investigation because OSHA’s focus is on the employer
providing a reasonably safe work environment for its employees rather than on
employees responding to the unexpected arrival of civilians at an incident.
Conclusion

Based on the facts set forth above, I have probable cause to believe that -
Ellreese N. Daniels committed involuntary manslaughter in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 1112, 1114, because he engaged in firefighting activities in a grossly negligent

manner that constituted wanton or reckless disregard for human life, which might
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produce death; Mr. Daniels’ series of grossly negligent actions were the proximate
cause of the deaths qf Forest Service firefighters Tom Craven, Karen Fitzpatrick,
Jessica Johnson and Devin Weaver; and Mr. Daniels either knew that such
conduct was a threat to the lives of others or knew of circﬁmstanées that would
reasonably cause him to foresee that such conduct might be a threat to the lives of
others because his actions disregarded established standards and procedures for
firefighting that the Forest Service, many other wildland firefighting agencies, and
the Occupational Saféty and Health Administration recognize. Based on the facts
set forth above, I also have probable cause to believe that Ellreese N. Daniels
made material false statements to the Forest Service and to the Occupational
Safety and Health Administration, agencies within the Executive Branch of the
United States Government, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001, concerning whether
the fire engines checked in with him when they arrived at the Thirtymile Fire and
whether he directed the firefighters who were on the scree slope to come down off
the rocks. Finally, based on the facts set forth above, I have probable cause to
believe that Ellreese N. Daniels made material false statements to the Forest

Service, an agency within the Executive Branch of the United States Government,
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in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001, concerning whether he directed firefighter

Rebecca Welch to take two civilians into her fire shelter,

/@w_z_.é%«d
ohn R. Parker, Special Agent

U.S. Department of Agriculture-Office of
Inspector General

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to
before me this /%744 day of December, 2006.

("

Cynthia Imbrogno
United States Magistrate Judge
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